



KDI/IMF Conference on Reconstructing the World Economy February 25, 2010 Seoul, Korea

Session III The Future Financial System

Redesigning the Contours of the Future Financial System

Presenter: Laura Kodres

Paper presented at the KDI/IMF Conference on Reconstructing the World Economy Co-organized by the Korea Development Institute (KDI) and the International Monetary Fund (IMF), with the support of the Presidential Committee for the G-20 Summit, Ministry of Strategy and Economy, Financial Services Commission, and Bank of Korea Seoul, Korea— February 25, 2010

The views expressed in this paper are those of the author(s) only, and the presence of them, or of links to them, on the IMF website does not imply that the IMF, its Executive Board, or its management endorses or shares the views expressed in the paper.

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

Monetary and Capital Markets Department

Redesigning the Contours of the Future Financial System¹

Prepared by Laura Kodres

February 8, 2010

_

¹ Written by Laura E. Kodres and Aditya Narain. Helpful comments were received by many individuals in the Fund and from the private sector.

Contents	Page
Executive Summary	3
I. Introduction	4
II. What Went Wrong	6
III. Principal (and Principled) Changes to the Regulatory Environment	8
IV. The Future of the Financial System: Action and Reaction to the Crisis and Re Reforms	
A. For the System as a Whole	11
B. On the banking sector	
C. On financial markets and instruments	
V. The Role of the Fund	17
VI. Concluding Remarks	18

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The crisis has elicited a profound re-evaluation of the way in which the global financial system works. How both policymakers and market participants respond to the crisis will shape the future financial system for at least a generation. This paper explores some of the probable outcomes and argues that for the global financial system to serve its purpose of supporting economic growth a more robust and stable system must be designed and put into place.

The crisis has made it obvious that reform of supervision and regulation is essential to create a safer financial system less prone to excessive risk taking. In addition to improved supervision of individual institutions, greater emphasis needs to be put on financial regulations that reflect the systemic nature of financial risks and the role that macroeconomic policies play. Care must be taken, however, to avoid excessive regulation that could stifle innovation and the benefits of a more globally integrated financial system. This note suggests the key aspects of the contours will be:

- ➤ Banks will return to their more traditional function—regulation will attempt to limit the risks banks assume by imposing higher capital requirements (hence, permitting less leverage), probably limiting their profits.
- The non-banking sector will likely have a greater competitive advantage—both in supplying credit and providing investors with non-bank services—and will thus grow. The perimeter of regulation will need to set to take into account more acutely the risks in the non-bank sector.
- The global financial system will be smaller, and less levered, than in the recent past, and could well be less innovative and dynamic, at least for a while. How this will affect economic growth will depend on whether a more stable system motivates a higher level of savings and investment over the long run.
- Market infrastructure, including more exchange trading of previously over-the-counter instruments and robust netting and clearing systems, will be reinforced to protect investors from counterparty risks, and will provide needed simplicity and transparency to make risks clearer and the financial system safer.

Global consistency of regulation and financial sector taxation will be essential to mitigate systemic risks, to avoid unintended distortions, and to help ensure a level playing field. The Fund, given its membership, will have a key role in guiding the move to the new financial system by contributing to the discussions on regulatory design, monitoring its implementation, warning of a buildup of systemic and fiscal risks, examining macrofinancial linkages, and assessing risks to global growth.

I. Introduction

- 1. The crisis has elicited wide-ranging discussion and deep introspection about what the future contours of the financial system should look like, particularly about how regulation and supervision should be reformed to encourage a financial system that better mitigates systemic risks. The paper discusses the weaknesses prevalent in the run-up to the crisis, the probable changes in the regulatory environment, and how the financial system is likely to be shaped by them. Finally, the paper explores the role that the Fund can play in moving toward a more robust and stable global financial system.
- 2. A financial system should provide society with the means of matching savers and investors so as to transform today's resources into tomorrow's consumption—and to do this efficiently and safely. Ultimately, a smooth functioning financial system should help to produce stable and sustainable economic growth. In the run-up to the crisis, some of these goals were not met—behavior of market participants, policymakers, regulators and supervisors, and others interacted in ways that gave rise to extreme instability, resulting in levels of government intervention into the private sector of advanced economies that have not been experienced since the Great Depression.
- 3. While there were many causes to the crisis, the crisis illustrated that regulation and supervision were inadequate for the risks that were undertaken by the market. Implementation and enforcement of existing regulation was also too lax, reflecting a steady drift toward a more hands-off supervisory style, where the attitude that the private sector "knows best" was permitted to take hold. In some countries this caused an under-resourcing of supervisory agencies that then were unable to stay on top of market practices. Moreover, supervisors focused too much on risks of individual entities or markets without explicitly factoring in the potential for a buildup of systemic risks that could result in crisis.
- 4. The regulatory reforms that are emerging in policy discussions is aimed at moving the overall financial system to a lower point on the risk/return tradeoff—lowering risks, raising costs, and thus, most likely, lowering returns earned by the sector. Ideally, this would be best accomplished by establishing price-based incentives for important parts of the financial system to avoid extreme systemic risks—essentially by making it more expensive for institutions to do so. Alternatives, albeit less preferable, would involve outright quantity constraints on positions, the size and scope of activities, or even limits on the types of instruments that can be purchased or sold. In various venues, both approaches are under discussion.
- 5. A financial system that is more highly regulated and takes less risk is probably less likely to cause large gyrations in financial stability and real economic activity, but at the same time it could be associated with slower economic growth. While formal studies are scarce, there is a supposition that economies with more financial innovation, higher leverage, and greater ability to take on risks are associated with a steeper economic growth path at least

for some time. This effect, of course, is difficult to disentangle from other influences, such as those from fiscal and monetary policies. Nonetheless, the recent experience suggests that higher growth that is spurred by poor financial innovation, without economic value, may be illusory and come with a heavy price in the form of crises that may have a significant cost in terms of the longer term growth trend. That said, a more stable financial system may encourage its use, with savers and investors more willing to use financial intermediaries thereby raising the economic growth trend.

- 6. On the regulatory front, two very different scenarios are possible in the months ahead.
 - First, having skirted systemic collapses, in part due to the rapid deployment of new
 government facilities and other support mechanisms, and facing strong resistance
 from the private sector to new regulation and at least a temporary recovery of profits,
 the official community allows complacency to set in and the difficult reform agenda
 is allowed to languish.
 - Second, that the crisis has been so devastating and generated such a public backlash
 that every public body wants to be seen as responding vigorously. However, action on
 numerous fronts by the various public entities could result in over-regulation to a
 degree that certain markets may simply disappear and valuable financial innovations
 and products are blocked.

Either outcome would be undesirable. Moreover, there is probably little appetite for removing ineffective or outdated regulations as this might be perceived as further deregulation. What needs to occur is that *sensible and better* regulation is designed and implemented—a Goldilocks solution—not too little, nor too much, but just right to do the job of preventing problems where markets fail to operate properly.

7. The key questions as to what the future financial system will look like can be summarized as follows. Although formal answers are, at this point, a guess, the outlines—the contours—of the more probable responses can be described.

On the financial system as a whole:

- Will the global financial system be safer and simpler?
- What will be the role of banks versus the role of non-banks in financing growth?
- Will the domestic financial system be smaller as a proportion of the domestic economy?
- At the global level, will financial integration continue or reverse?

On the banking sector:

• What kind of banking system will we have?

• Will bigger banks dominate or will smaller banks be more prevalent, or both?

On financial markets and instruments:

- Which type of markets will we have? Simpler? More transparent?
- Will there be more organized venues for clearing and settlement versus over-the-counter (OTC) bilateral trading?
- Will certain types of instruments be encouraged or discouraged?
- 8. Before attempting to answer these basic questions in light of potential regulatory responses, the paper reviews how the financial system ended up in the situation of today.

II. WHAT WENT WRONG

- 9. The financial crisis unfolded in an environment where financial institutions and other investors were excessively optimistic about asset prices and risk, against a backdrop of low nominal interest rates. Indeed, in the five to six years prior to the crisis several trends signaled that the financial system was becoming more vulnerable.² First, while not a determining factor in which countries were hit by the crisis, a rapid expansion of the financial sector was evident in many countries. Some of this was spurred by high levels of household borrowing for the purchase of real estate, some of which was based on a loosening of underwriting standards. Second, reliance on non-deposit-based funding became prevalent in the banking systems of the subsequently hardest hit countries. In part, this development was linked with a need to finance structured credit instruments held in off-balance sheet vehicles. Third, in the banking sector of many countries, trading account income, as well as commission and fee income, rose while net interest income from the traditional banking business was lackluster. Using traditional measures of leverage of banks' balance sheets, overall banking system leverage was either elevated or grew rapidly in the advanced countries that suffered the most (Germany, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States).
- 10. These same trends were evident in three important emerging market countries (Brazil, China, and India) though to a much lesser degree. Growth in financial system assets was less steep. Banking system assets were mostly stable implying that what growth did occur was in the non-bank financial sector. However, most of this recorded growth took place in mutual and pension funds, not in leveraged entities, as in the advanced economies. Hence, these countries were initially less vulnerable to the shocks that transpired.

² The following refers to the following countries: Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, France, Germany, India, Singapore, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States.

_

- 11. While the global trends were evident to many onlookers, their potential risks were largely dismissed in part because of the belief that market discipline would rein in excessive risk-taking, at least in market-based systems. But the crisis revealed significant shortcomings in widely held views regarding risk management and the effectiveness of market discipline and self-regulation in the financial sector, as well as regulatory approaches based on them.
- While credit risk transfer is a powerful innovation, it often did not spread risk to those outside (or even more widely within) the banking system best able to handle the risks, as assumed. Nor did supervisors, and in some cases the banks themselves, understand where risks were located even inside a specific bank. The regulatory focus was on capital standards for credit risk, and funding liquidity risk did not receive due attention. Moreover, the use of various "Tiers" of capital let capital of lesser quality count in the regulatory ratios. The increased access to wholesale funding markets was welcomed, but the risk that it could dry up suddenly was largely ignored.
- Non-banks proved to be systemically-important, not just because of their size, but because of the interconnectedness to other important intermediaries. The size and interconnectedness of non-bank entities therefore caused several to be the recipients of government support previously reserved only for banks.
- Leverage was greater than initially thought, in part because it was embedded in instruments in ways that were not transparent and in part because regulatory ratios did not adequately incorporate some risks. The procyclicality embedded in the financial system was also stronger than initially perceived, due to feedback effects between financial institutions' balance sheets, asset prices, and the economy, building up latent instability in the upswing and amplifying damage in the downturn.
- Short-term incentive structures, which relied excessively on self-regulation also encouraged outsized risk taking. Regulators did not recognize that such incentives would undermine market discipline, and thus did not impose offsetting changes in accounting, transparency, governance, or risk management systems.
- Inadequate resolution schemes for financial institutions and a lack of information about the potential spillovers compounded initial difficulties when they arose.
- 12. The inability to effectively supervise and efficiently resolve large, complex, cross-border financial institutions became evident as a major source of moral hazard, systemic risk, and eventual fiscal cost. Subsequent responses by governments also demonstrated that actions cannot be easily directed to domestic institutions or markets without affecting others and can have very rapid effects in other countries during a period of high uncertainty.

III. PRINCIPAL (AND PRINCIPLED) CHANGES TO THE REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

8

- 13. The underlying philosophy of regulation changed with the crisis—policymakers recognize that prudential regulation to ensure the safety and soundness of individual institutions will not be sufficient to address systemic risks. The changes being proposed to the framework for financial regulation to address systemic risks fall into one of two broad categories—those that are aimed at reducing the likelihood of future crises and those that are aimed at managing them better.
- 14. The *preventive measures* focus on both strengthening existing micro-prudential (entity level) regulatory requirements, as well as developing a framework for macro-prudential (system-wide) regulation and supervision. The overall thrust of the preventive measures is to enhance the shock absorbers available in the system by increasing the buffers to cover losses and liquidity shortages, placing constraints on overall leverage in the financial system, and extending the regulatory perimeter to include all systemically important institutions, markets and instruments.
- 15. Progress is being made in micro-prudential regulation and some enhancements to the regulatory framework have already been issued and implemented, including: increased capital requirements in some areas, improved firm-wide risk management, guidance on sound compensation practices for supervisory review, and increased disclosure requirements for certain items. Other micro-prudential regulation, namely countercyclical capital requirements and more stringent funding liquidity requirements, is being formulated by the Basel Committee on Bank Supervision during 2010 with the objective of implementing these reforms by end-2012, assuming economic conditions are not adverse.
- 16. An operational framework for macro-prudential supervision is still evolving. There is broad agreement on the components, which will enable regulation to take a more 'system-wide' view.³ The key features of the macroprudential approach are (i) dampening procyclicality so that both upswings and downturns are not amplified by regulations or market practices; and (ii) greater attention to systemically important financial institutions where significance is not judged by size alone, but also on other factors such as leverage, interconnectedness, or complexity. The areas identified where procyclicality could be addressed range from: (a) changes to capital regimes; (b) provisioning for losses; (c) rules linked to accounting practices; (d) risk management systems; and (e) compensation schemes. Attention to systemic liquidity difficulties also falls into the macro-prudential realm.

³ There is also a realization among monetary policymakers that they should take into account financial stability concerns just as financial regulation should take a more 'system-wide' approach. This is discussed in IMF WP 09/70 "Financial Stability Frameworks and the Role of Central Banks: Lessons from the Crisis."

-

9

- 17. The issue of identifying systemically important financial institutions involves both the ability to extend the perimeter of supervision to less- or un-regulated segments as well as actions to counter regulatory arbitrage that inevitably follows tighter regulation in one sector. The Fund, the Financial Stability Board (FSB), and the Bank of International Settlements (BIS) produced a set of underlying principles for authorities to use to identify systemically important institutions, markets, and instruments, an important first step. Clearly more information from a number of currently unregulated entities (including about risk exposures) will needed to complete this exercise. The next step will be to decide how regulatory and supervisory approaches can be adapted. Providing clarity about how institutions are to be chosen, but at the same time maintaining some discretion to avoid circumvention, will be a major challenge. Even though the line between institutions inside and outside the perimeter will always be difficult to discern, those overseeing the stability of the financial system will need to diligently collect the necessary information and devise better ways of staying on top of developments that may indicate where excessive risks reside.
- 18. Related to the identification of systemically important institutions is how to address too-big or too-important-to-fail institutions. Two big (and intertwined) issues under discussion are (i) whether public policy should proactively inhibit institutions from becoming so large or interconnected as to be perceived as too big, or too important, to fail and (ii) how should a failure of a systemically important institution be dealt with in both domestic and cross-border contexts.
- 19. While there is broad agreement on the risks that too-important-to-fail institutions pose, there is less agreement on how they should be dealt with. Consensus is building around the use of preventive measures, such as higher capital and liquidity requirements related to their contribution to systemic risk and more intensive supervision. Direct limits on size and scope of banks are also being proposed. For instance, limiting the activities of banks, including using their own funds (and hence implicitly depositors' money), to finance proprietary trading desks, hedge funds, or private equity funds may be another route to attempt to reduce the riskiness of banks and, in principle, its likelihood of failure, though its effectiveness has not been examined in detail. Similarly, some believe that a return of traditional banking—banks taking retail deposits and making loans to households and corporates—will alleviate the too-important-to-fail problem. However, even traditional banks can be such large providers of credit in a country that a restriction to traditional banking will not redress the affect a failure may have on the real economy. Moreover, most severe banking crises are linked to excessive credit expansion. Spending time understanding how and why the failure of an institution can be detrimental (and to whom) could help avoid unintended consequences and focus any preventive measures directly on the problem.

⁴ Some countries are discussing whether they will provide a continuous scale along which institutions will be arrayed from highly systemic to non-systemic. Others intend to have a more distinctive definition, identifying those that are and are not systemically important.

- 20. Another angle is to develop a special resolution regime for financial institutions (not just banks). It is important to assure the continuity of financial services during an unwinding or bankruptcy. In addition to averting a disruption in the flows of payments, this also helps underpin confidence in the financial system, helping to avert panics and runs. Even without a formal resolution procedure, it would be helpful if too-important-to-fail institutions prepare, in advance, plans for their winding-down in the event of insolvency or failure, a so-called "living will." This may, in part, encourage a reduction in complexity and "de-risking."
- 21. Managing cross-border resolution issues is even more difficult. This will require consistent national approaches when a bank fails in several countries and are more contentious because domestic operations are subject to individual national legal frameworks. Progress in this area is likely to be slow. In the absence of an agreement about how to resolve bank failures across borders, the risk of ring-fencing, where countries try to keep a bank's assets within their borders, becomes higher. This notion has spawned a debate about whether self-standing subsidiaries of financial institutions would help to lower spillovers. The benefits to subsidiarization, such as a lessening of spillovers in bankruptcy, would need to be evaluated against the efficiency losses if internal transfers of cross-border funding were to be disallowed. In the cases where actual losses affect the public, *ex ante* burden sharing rules among national authorities would be highly useful, although they are unlikely to be agreed upon or credibly enforced in the near term.
- 22. Product design can have a stability impact if the nature of the risk embedded in the product is opaque and mispriced, as in the case of the complex credit derivatives, and if products are structured in a way that exacerbates a run on liquidity, as was the case with money market funds. Reforms are underway to remove some of the informational and incentive problems that plagued securitized products. Credit rating agencies are providing more information about the underlying loans and modeling techniques used in their ratings; incentive structures for those who are originating loans now reward longer-term decision making; and regulators are insisting that originators hold more of the underlying loans to incentivize better monitoring. In general, however, although the crisis pinpointed some issues with specific products, it is not clear how to judge when new products will pose systemic risks.
- 23. Markets can also have a systemic impact if they are insufficiently transparent, thereby potentially leading to mispricing, misuse, or concentrating risk and laying the basis for an eventual destabilizing adjustment; this was the case in the credit default swaps (CDS) market. Reform efforts in the CDS market are focused on making the market more transparent and reducing counterparty exposures. Consensus has emerged that other over-the-counter markets may need to be moved to central counterparties or be subject to additional transparency requirements. Where such central clearing mechanisms existed during the crisis, payments flowed smoothly and defaults were handled well. Looking forward, however, it will be important to construct such central counterparties (CCPs) carefully so that the benefits of

counterparty netting are not offset by the concentration of operational risk inherent in these important institutions.

IV. THE FUTURE OF THE FINANCIAL SYSTEM: ACTION AND REACTION TO THE CRISIS AND REGULATORY REFORMS

24. The aim of many in the international financial community is to make the system less crisis prone. But what will be the private sector reactions to the set of regulations outlined above?

A. For the System as a Whole

Will the global financial system be safer and simpler?

- 25. With higher capital charges and less ability to use leverage in the banking system, will the global financial system be less risky? Institutions that carry out maturity transformations (for instance, borrowing short-term to lend longer-term) will be subject to more oversight regarding mismatches between the maturities of their assets and liabilities and will be required to hold more loss-bearing capital, cushioning the institution in downturns. Even without regulatory reform, many institutions are rethinking their risk-taking activities and how they can better align risk-taking with employee compensation. The removal or modification of policies that tended to add to procyclicality and exacerbate financial cycles will also reduce the build-ups of risk and leverage in the upswing and temper the outcomes of deleveraging and risk-reduction in the downswing. The global financial system should become less risky if the reform agenda is carried out.
- 26. Will the global financial system be simpler? After witnessing how complexity can obscure risks and blunt attempts to resolve crises, simplicity is being welcomed by many investors. Simplicity will be easiest to see in the types of financial instruments produced and traded. During the crisis, counterparty risk was heightened by uncertainties surrounding nontransparent and difficult-to-value complex securities. This has made many financial institutions more wary about these securities. Moreover, some reforms intend to apply higher capital charges on non-standardized products to encourage standardization. While there will always be a place for designing instruments and transactions tailored to satisfy specific clients' needs, less of this activity will occur.
- 27. To better anticipate where systemic risks are building up, supervisors and regulators will encourage simpler institutional arrangements among and within regulated financial institutions. This may mean certain activities are only permitted in certain types of institutions. This should, in turn, facilitate better reporting of risk exposures, and alongside this, lower the hurdles to sharing information across regulatory entities and across borders. The unknown interconnections surrounding CDS contract holders in the fall of 2008 is a prime example of what both the private sector and the official sector are already addressing through increased use of data repositories and information sharing. Those responsible for

overseeing financial stability will also benefit from the ability to see through organizational structures and gain relevant aggregated and disaggregated information.

28. To the extent that the global financial system is safer and simpler, it will have an effect on the overall trend of economic growth. After deleveraging has run its course and the steady state is attained, the safer system should result in a dampening of the amplitude around the growth path. Whether this leads to a higher or lower growth path will depend on whether stability encourages more use of the financial system to intermediate between savers and investors, or whether the regulations have slowed innovation inhibiting efficient intermediation. It may be, however, that some of the previous increase in the growth potential that was attributed to financial intermediation was false and some financial innovations were counter-productive—producing products that did not benefit society at large. If so, then these resources could be redeployed and better used in other non-financial activities, thereby supplementing growth.

What will be the role of banks versus the role of nonbanks?

- 29. Lower leverage and higher required liquidity holdings within the banking system will likely result in greater demand to access credit through capital markets (e.g., corporate bonds). The need for higher lending spreads means that bank credit will be more expensive and hence those who are able to tap the now relatively cheaper capital markets for funding their investments will be more inclined to do so. While there may be higher demand for non-bank credit, a question remains as to whether there will be enough incentive to channel savings through alternative financial intermediaries (e.g., mutual funds, life insurance companies) to supply it. Will the less heavily regulated parts of the financial system be able to obtain funding and provide credit to households and corporations to replace the lower amounts supplied by banking institutions? Unless savers become highly risk averse, placing their funds on protected deposit accounts, intermediation outside the banking system is going to grow.
- 30. Due to the higher capital required to be held against risky assets, risky credits will likely shift out of the banking sector to the non-bank financial system. Regulations will need to be adopted to oversee the risks in the non-bank sector better. An important question is whether bank-like regulation will need to be extended to other institutions (e.g., private equity, hedge funds, real-estate investment trusts) currently viewed as "non-bank" but similarly characterized by high leverage and asset-liability mismatches in maturity, liquidity, or currency terms. And if so, whether these institutions will also be eligible for access to the same protections provided to deposit holders and for central banks' liquidity support mechanisms. Alternatively, policymakers may decide that such risk-shifting is acceptable as long as it remains outside a well-protected banking system. The key will be to be transparent about what are acceptable risks for various institutions to take and the protections that apply.

- 31. The extent of credit risk transfer (e.g., securitization) outside the banking system that takes place will depend importantly on how regulation is formulated. New regulations have already constrained some previously-used forms of securitization—generally the more complex forms. For securitization to be sustained, longer-term investors (insurers, pension funds, and so on) will need to be convinced that the new regulations on securitization are adequate to prevent the abuses that occurred in the run-up to the crisis. But if regulations applied to securitization are too strict then originators may not find it economical to originate loans to distribute, potentially limiting the usefulness of securitization. A careful reregulation of securitization markets is needed to restart this credit channel.
- 32. It could be that other institutional forms are used for risk-taking, though they may seek safer ways to take specific risks. Allocations to proprietary trading desks in banks are being scaled back in anticipation of increased regulatory and capital costs. Counterparty risks will be reduced through better margining and centralized counterparty clearing facilities, but with higher costs of financial resources that serve as leverage, hedge funds and private equity funds may try to take on more specific types of risks rather than leverage up on commonly held trades.

Will the financial system be smaller as a proportion of the economy?

- 33. The new higher capital requirements and other regulatory strictures on banks imply that in the steady state, the banking system is likely to be smaller overall. In the near term, bank deleveraging may overshoot and reduce the size of the banking system below its long run equilibrium. In this interim stage, the public sector has, and may need to continue, to intermediate savings to assure credit continues to be supplied. After this interim period the banking sector will likely be scaled back to a smaller, but more stable, size, particularly if the activities that a bank is able to undertake are more restricted.
- 34. If a smaller banking sector results, the likely size of the financial system, both bank and non-bank, (in terms of the value added to the economy, or assets, or assets as a percentage of GDP) could be difficult to judge, with factors pulling in both directions. To the extent that households in advanced economies need to rebuild savings and hence demand other financial services (not necessarily credit services), say, related to retirement, the non-bank sector will expand, at least partly offsetting the decline in traditional banking. Alternatively, if households and other investors become more cautious in light of recent shocks, they may prefer to place their funds in low risk investments, such as insured bank deposits or government securities that do not require much financial management, then depending on how the funds are used, the financial system could shrink overall.

At the global level, will financial expansion and integration continue?

35. At the global level, the degree of cross-border financial flows is difficult to predict. Although many assume globalization of finance is an unstoppable trend, the crisis has led some countries to rethink their openness and their vulnerability, skeptical of mature markets'

integrity. Fallout from the crisis may lead some countries to dissuade foreign entrants and governments may decide to encourage nationalization of certain financial institutions. Domestic investors may prefer to invest at home. There could be a generalized pull-back from cross-border relationships as the cost of managing a global institution on a consolidated basis increases, offsetting the gains that can come from managing liquidity on a global basis. Outright protectionism, for instance prohibitions of foreign ownership of domestic assets or firms may increase, but should be resisted.

- 36. On the more positive side, if globally-connected institutions are identified and their addition to systemic risks, if any, is dealt with through enhanced cross-border cooperation to prevent crises or manage crises if they occur, globalization could be enhanced. Regarding prevention of crises, globally-accepted methods are not out of reach. For instance, the oversight of some cross-border financial institutions through "colleges of supervisors" (whereby supervisors from different countries exchange supervisory information and examination strategies about financial institutions that operate in each of multiple countries) is being strengthened. The various international bodies that coordinate banking supervision, securities market oversight, accounting rules and so on, already provide venues for discussion and re-regulation. That said, there are some very difficult issues when it comes to managing and resolving crises that still require agreement, including the application of insolvency regimes and the sharing of losses. Some groups, including the Fund, are working to hammer out cross-border resolution regimes.
- 37. Emerging and developing economies have made good progress over the years in adopting global financial standards, constructing compatible market infrastructure, and improving their legal systems. In many cases, these economies have reaped the benefits of their financial development. However, the crisis has shaken confidence in this approach, causing some countries to question whether they are adopting potentially flawed regulations and supervisory practices. Is the "originate to distribute" model employed by financial institutions in some advanced countries still to be emulated? To keep globalization moving forward to the benefit of all countries, emerging and developing countries should continue to adopt tried and tested financial regulation and infrastructure making sure their systems are resilient and robust.

B. On the banking sector

What kind of banking system will we have? Bigger banks? Smaller banks? Or some of each, providing a more tiered banking system?

38. Whether large global banks become smaller or the system is made up of fewer very large institutions (i.e., more concentrated) depends on several forces. Higher capital requirements and a supervisory focus penalizing "size" and complexity could drive banks to curtail growth and to divest themselves of non-core businesses. Even without additional regulation, the higher cost environment, the recent difficulty of managing complex

organizational structures may cause bank managers to decide that divesting business lines and being more specialized may improve profitability. Indeed, some large banks are doing this already. Smaller, cooperative banks or mutual institutions may also thrive. These banks, less reliant on shareholders' expectations, were generally able to avoid many of the mistakes made by larger private sector institutions. Though not always considered the most efficient, vibrant, or innovative institutions, in many countries they dependably supply the small and medium-sized enterprises and many households with their credit needs.

- 39. Pressures that lead banks to become larger include: a funding advantage for firms believed to be "systemic" or too important to fail and thus backstopped by the government; remuneration schemes linked to size or number of deals rather than risk-based profitability; and a belief that a "full service" global bank is necessary to service clients requiring a global reach and broad product capabilities. As noted above, regulations are directed towards changing this landscape, making it more expensive to become systemically-important. Competition policy, however, is ill-suited to address systemic risk, given its focus on financial product pricing distortions rather than financial stability. As a result, determining whether financial stability will be undermined by a financial institution's merger or acquisition should not be undertaken by competition authorities, but by those assigned the task of maintaining financial stability. New methods for this type of analysis will be required as it is much more related to issues of interconnectedness and the overall importance of an institution for the financial system rather than whether prices of bank services are too high because of a lack of competition with other banks. Thus new measures need to be designed alongside actions to dissuade institutions from acquiring the status of too-important-to-fail.
- 40. It may be that the new financial system forces banks to choose: with some becoming larger and others opting to be smaller—a more tiered system. Some banks may be willing the pay the "systemic risk tax" (the design of which is being avidly discussed) and remain large or even grow larger and expect to receive public support having paid their dues. Other banks may decide they are unlikely to need public support and prefer to avoid the additional costs that go with systemic importance, deciding to divest themselves of some business lines or become smaller to avoid a tax.

C. On financial markets and instruments

What type of markets will we have? Simpler? More transparent?

41. More transparent markets with greater amounts of trade information supplied to the market will be forthcoming to satisfy investor requirements. Already in many markets, participants are demanding better information and are receiving it. The calls for standards on information provision and best practices are emerging to cover a number of areas previously deemed to have lax reporting or where little information was available. If improvement is not provided by the private markets on their own, given that opacity is often in the interest of private firms, regulators should assess what information should be given out (and what

should not) and to whom the information should be provided, as well as the cost of collection and disbursement. Too much information about an institution's positions or exposures could lead others to behave strategically in a way that undermines the trading process. However, further global coordination on what confidential information could be reported to supervisors could lower costs and allow various authorities to foresee dangerous developments.

More organized clearing venues versus bilateral over-the-counter trading?

- 42. Risk mitigation infrastructure will be an important part of the new financial system. The ability to identify and unwind positions smoothly is a prerequisite to allowing shocks to be absorbed easily in a financial system. This lesson is being relearned as much of recent instability arose because of lack of transparency in OTC markets about who owed what to whom, which increased perceived counterparty credit risks. For instance, the troubles in counterparty risks in credit default swaps—all of which were traded OTC—has motivated netting initiatives and the construction of several central counterparties (CCPs) for these contracts. Through multilateral netting, these CCPs allow counterparties to offset exposures with each other in a way that lowers the overall exposures to the participating counterparties. By putting many trades in one place, however, the structural integrity of a CCP needs to be impeccable so that it can withstand the default of one or more of its counterparties without others being affected.
- 43. While CCPs are effective when instruments are standardized, other mechanisms such as valuation and matching facilities will also reduce risks. More robust margining systems, in which cash or collateral is held to protect against default or non-payment, will also help in this regard. Already resources devoted to these issues are bearing fruit in the form of better modeling of margining systems and the development of trade repositories.

Will some instruments be encouraged or discouraged? For some types of institutions or investors?

- 44. Regulation will both explicitly and implicitly discourage certain types of instruments or markets. It is important that this is done on consciously and not left to the realm of unintended consequences of actions taken. Regulation is mostly likely to discourage instruments that contain a high degree of risk (especially leverage), are difficult for users or investors to price, and may have some type of systemic or destabilizing effect on markets. Although standardization is to be encouraged, it will also make it more difficult to hedge custom made or specialized risks raising costs to some set of end-users. Overall, then, the key will be to ensure that there are standards defining acceptable use by certain types of investors and greater disclosure of the product's risks and returns.
- 45. If regulation is insufficiently consistent globally, however, the use of some types of instruments will simply move to unregulated, or less regulated, jurisdictions. This is especially problematic when the jurisdiction now originating the associated risks does not

17

have the capacity to oversee their effects, particularly when the impact is felt cross-border. Worries about off-shore financial centers fall into this category.

V. THE ROLE OF THE FUND

- 46. The Fund is likely to play a key role in the development of financial regulation and its implementation by national authorities. The Fund can serve as an authority to ensure that reform efforts are both sustained and coordinated. The Fund with its knowledge of members' financial systems and experience in monitoring global standards and codes is uniquely positioned to help ensure that a redesigned financial system benefits all its members, not just some. It is able to see the pros and cons of different regulatory structures, what has worked well and what has not and can help translate this into practical regulation. The Fund could advise countries about where best the country could place a mandate for financial stability, depending on its current financial architecture. The Fund may thus be able help to minimize collateral damage to households and firms that would otherwise occur if the reform of the financial system fails to occur or does so in an uncoordinated way leading to an unlevel playing field. Through its surveillance activities, the Fund can bring peer pressure to bear on those countries that fail to conform to international best practice.
- 47. To help foster a more stable global financial system, the Fund will need to refine its surveillance of the financial system using a more global approach—including by looking at the connections between the financial system and the macroeconomy—so-called macrofinancial linkages. Fund policy advice is being strengthened by enhancing the interaction between multilateral and bilateral surveillance and through more targeted technical assistance in the areas of supervision, regulation, and crisis management. Assessment of contingent fiscal liabilities to the financial sector and their impact on systemic risk is becoming a particular focus.
- 48. The Fund already contributes to ongoing discussions on regulatory reform through its interactions with the financial sector standard setters (Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, the International Organization of Securities Commissions, International Accounting Standards Board, and the International Association of Deposit Insurers). The Fund will increasingly interact with the FSB and the BIS on topics of mutual interest. The roles of these bodies will become further intertwined as the FSB helps advance the agenda for international financial regulatory changes, the BIS collects data and performs research, and the Fund brings to bear its members experience, tracking and encouraging the implementation of new standards and regulatory changes through its bilateral surveillance and technical assistance.
- 49. There is already an explicit expectation from the G20 that the Financial Sector Assessment Programs (FSAPs) and the reviews of standards and codes (ROSCs) process be expanded to include surveillance of the evolving framework of macroprudential supervision once it is in place. The Fund's unique position in monitoring implementation and

18

enforcement through the FSAP should help to spur reform efforts. To assure compliance with emerging regulations, best practices or guidelines, the Fund as recently developed additional ways for reviewing the implementation of new standards and codes, and adopted proposals for making the FSAPs and ROSCs more flexible in their application and more targeted and timely in their delivery.

VI. CONCLUDING REMARKS

- 50. In sum, the overall contours of the future financial system will likely be a simpler, safer, higher-cost financial system with perhaps slower, but more stable growth and fewer crises—assuming financial regulation and supervision are effectively reformed. The financial system will evolve to where there is less leverage, less profit, but more *bona fide* intermediation between savers and investors. This new, and improved, system may look less innovative and dynamic and more old-fashioned, but will likely deliver financial products that do a better job of satisfying the needs of households and firms. There is apt to be less credit provided exclusively by banks and a larger diversity of types of institutions in the non-bank sector. Some banks may become smaller and more specialized, others may continue to be large and global, but with tighter strictures and oversight on how they operate.
- To get to this safer, sounder financial system, coordinated and consistent 51. implementation of better, smarter regulation and oversight will be needed. The Fund is wellplaced to help its member countries obtain this objective. The recognition that individual financial institutions were inadequately regulated and supervised, in part because they were evaluated without regard to their increasing interconnectiveness and the systemic risks they posed, will lead to regulatory framework that is more holistic and better suited to mitigate systemic risks. For this to occur, however, monetary, fiscal, and financial authorities need to work together across their usual policy boundaries to make sure their policies do not work at cross purposes. The more regulation can be made to set incentives so that the private sector operates safely and effectively, the less constrictive it needs to be. There should be no illusions, however, that the private sector will resist even "incentive compatible" regulations since their flexibility and compensation will be reduced. Hence, reforms will need to be introduced with determination in face of such resistance. To make such a transition to the new system in the more globalized financial world of today, a firm commitment to do so and international cooperation on the new financial regulatory structure will be essential.